# STRATEGIES ADOPTED BY EQUITY BANK TO GAIN A COMPETITIVE ADVANTAGE ON MOBILE LOAN APPLICATIONS

#### BY

#### **ESTHER MWERU MUTURI**

A RESEARCH PROJECT SUBMITTED IN PARTIAL FULFILMENT
OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE AWARD OF THE DEGREE
OF MASTER OF BUSINESS ADMINISTRATION, SCHOOL OF
BUSINESS, UNIVERSITY OF NAIROBI

#### **DECLARATION**

This research project is my original work and has not been presented for a degree in any other University.

	tindah	
Signature		

Date.....8/9/2022.....

**Esther Muturi** 

Registration Number D61/88732/2016

This research project has been submitted for examination with my approval as University Supervisor.

**Date:** 14<sup>th</sup> Sept 2022

Signature:

Dr. Florence Muindi Senior Lecturer, Faculty of Business and Managment Sciences University of Nairobi.

### **DEDICATION**

This work is dedicated to my husband, son, parents, and brother, who have been supportive and understanding since I enrolled for my master's degree.

#### **ACKNOWLEDGEMENT**

Writing this master's project has been a wonderful experience coupled with its fair share of challenges. The completion of my studies opens a new beginning in my career journey.

First, I want to thank the Almighty God for giving me the grace to tackle each step of my post-graduate school life.

Special thanks to my supervisor Dr. Florence Muindi for creating time to look at my work and guide me accordingly and my moderator for all the support. Your passion for professionalism and excellence was demonstrated throughout our interactions.

My sincere gratitude to my husband for cheering me on, supporting me in all ways, and being there for me and with me right from the start of my coursework until this moment of finalizing my project. Finally, to my dear parents and siblings for being incredibly supportive.

## **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

DECLARATION	ii
DEDICATION	iii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT	iv
ABTRACT	viii
CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Background of the Study	1
1.1.1 Concept of Strategies	2
1.1.2 Competitive Advantage	4
1.1.3 Mobile Loan Applications	5
1.1.4 Equity Bank in Kenya	6
1.2 Research Problem	8
1.3 Research Objectives	10
1.4 Value of the Study	11
CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW	12
2.1 Introduction	12
2.2 Theoretical Review	12

2.2.1 Resource Based View	12
2.2.2 Innovation Diffusion Theory	14
2.3 Types of Strategies adopted by banks to gain a competitive advantage	16
2.4 Empirical Review	20
CHAPTER THREE: RESEARCH METHODOLOGY	23
3.1 Introduction	23
3.2 Research Design	23
3.3 Data Collection	24
3.4 Data Analysis	24
CHAPTER FOUR: DATA ANALYSIS, RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	25
4.1 Introduction	25
4.2 Response Rate	25
4.3 Respondents Demographics	26
4.3.1 Gender of the Interviewees	26
Table 4.1 Gender of the interviewees	26
4.3.2 Respondents' Level of Education	27
Table: 4.2 Level of Education	27
4 3 3 Interviewees Position	28

Table 4.3 Interviewees position	28
4.4 Mobile banking applications by Equity	29
4.5 Strategies adopted by Equity bank to gain a competitive advantage on mobile loan	
applications	32
4.6 Discussion of findings	34
CHAPTER FIVE: SUMMARY, CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATION	36
5.1 Introduction	36
5.2 Summary	37
5.3 Conclusion	38
5.4 Recommendations	39
5.5 Suggestions for Further Research	40
5.6 Limitation of the Study	41
REFERENCES	42
Appendix I: Interview Guide	48

#### **ABTRACT**

This study's objective is to establish strategies adopted by Equity bank to gain a competitive advantage on mobile loan applications. The study adopted case study design and data was collected at Equity Bank Kenya. Especially the headquarter of the bank at Upper Hill in Nairobi, Kenya. The data was collected using interviews and the interview involved various officers from the bank including the Strategy Managers, Directors and Chief executive officers. These officers are more involved in policy-making strategic planning in the bank and they provided required data to meet the study objectives. Data analysis involved the use of Content analysis. This was done to help categorized the study findings in different themes and subjects. The study established that Equity bank mobile loan applications success is due the implementation of different strategies such as aggressive digital marketing, innovation, brand management, cost leadership, segmentation, different and the use of focus strategies which has enabled the firms to gain competitive advantage by focusing on specific market segments and operations thus creating a competitive advantage that matches the core competencies and the opportunities in the industry. The study also found that the use cost leadership strategies enable the Bank to have a lower cost of operation through the efficiency of their operations to create lower prices than those of the competitors. The study concluded that banks should adopt different strategies to have a direction that will enable them to achieve their long-term objectives while meeting the demand of their customers and at the same time reducing the risks and threats from the market environment and taking advantage of the innovation environment in line with the mobile money transfer and transactions. The study recommended the need for banks to adopt strategies such as innovation, cost leadership, focus, and differentiation strategies. This will enhance the firms' competitive edge, increase market share, reduce operation costs, expand the customer base, and increase profitability of the organization as well as improve the organization's overall performance. However, the application of these strategies should focus on attracting, increasing, and retaining the customer base, reducing the cost of the operations, and improving the financial and operational performance of the financial institutions offering mobile loan services.

#### **CHAPTER ONE:INTRODUCTION**

#### 1.1 Background of the Study

Strategic management emphasizes the vital role of business strategy in large and small organizations as businesses strive to gain a competitive advantage in the market (David, 2014). Organizations use business strategy to outline the basic steps that must be followed to achieve their goals and gain a competitive advantage over their Rivals. Firms may have the same strategy or multiple strategies. These strategies exist—at three levels; Business-level strategies (such as grand or master strategies); Business-level strategies (competitive strategies); And functional-level strategy. Although the literature suggests that strategies are being developed at three different levels, theoretical and empirical studies of the relationship between strategy and organizational performance have mainly emphasized business strategy (Lee, 2013). Mintzberg and Quinn (2018) assert that strategic responses match the external environment with the organization's internal capabilities.

Firms are set against the backdrop of a complex commercial, economic, technological, cultural, and social world. Awareness of historical and environmental impacts and other definite threats to opportunities and organizations is critical. Thus, the survival and success of an organization occur when the organization creates and maintains a match between its strategy and the environment and between its internal capability and its strategy. Assessment of the external environment and the company profile enables a firm to identify a range of possibly attractive interactive opportunities (Kigeni, 2019). These opportunities are possible avenues for investment; these must be screened through the criterion of the company mission to generate a set of possible and desired opportunities.

This screening process results in the selection of options from which a strategic choice is made.

This study will be founded on two theories: Resource-Based View (Wernerfelt, 1984) and innovation diffusion theory (Mitchell, 2017). The Resource-Based View argues that commercial banks can benefit from adopting mobile loan applications to provide services to their customers. Innovation diffusion theory argues that new inventions like mobile loan applications and the internet are adapted and successful. Innovation involves the deliberate application of information aimed at the generation of unique ideas.

Globally, the banking industry has experienced slower growth following the economic recession in 2007-08. From double-digit growth in 2006-07, the top 1000 banks experienced 2.7% growth between 2008 and 2010. The profits have since improved and returned to pre-recession levels. Emerging markets remained profitable during the worst phase of the recession, whereas developed markets recorded huge losses (Capgemini, 2015). Kenya's banking industry is one of the emerging markets that experienced exponential growth between 2011 and 2016. This study will focus on banking strategies used by commercial banks aimed to attract clients, one being mobile loan applications aimed at increasing the industry's ability to compete.

#### 1.1.1 Concept of Strategies

Strategies are the plans that firm or an organization adopt to deal with environmental changes/turbulence, i.e., machinery of the resources and activities of an organization to the environment in which it operates. Strategies involve the options for strategy in terms of both the direction in which strategy might move and the methods by which strategy

mightbe pursued. There are strategic choices in terms of how the organization seeks to compete at the business level. According to Denis, Auster and Choo (2014), through strategic plans, a firm can position and relate itself to the environment to ensure its continued success and secure itself from surprises brought about by the changing environment. According to Hunger and Wheelen (2014), strategic plans heavily influenced by the top manager's awareness of their environment. Each company has its unique environment, and the same industry has its environment. Therefore, the dynamics in the business environment demand that firms adopt flexibility in their strategic responses to achieve competitive advantage. In essence, it calls for restructuring an organization to meet new activities and respond appropriately to the external environment. Comprehensive strategy evaluation of most companies is usually triggered by leadership change or competitive advantage. The fact that thorough strategy evaluation is not an everyday event or part of a formal system is discouraged by some theorists, but there are many good reasons for this state of affairs (Kiptugen, 2014).

According to Awuah (2016), strategies should involve intense research and brainstorming, studying risks, measuring consequences, and devising ways to mitigate and avoid them. Only then can any decision be made on which strategic responses to adopt to offer growth for the banking sector and others. The strategic plans of any organization are geared towards adding value and are usually a long-term approach. In its nature, strategies are a proactive process because top management anticipates change and acts on it beforehand (Hofstrand, 2013; Aremu & Oyinlole, 2014). Having strategic responses enables a business or firm to keep up with its competitors. Without strategies there is no floating

course, no roadmap to manage, and no coordination action plan to deliver the desired results (Aremu & Oyinlole, 2018).

#### 1.1.2 Competitive Advantage

Competitive advantage is defined as an attribute that enables companies to outperform their competitors. Each market segment attracts many players who strive to be the best providers of services and products, creating competition. As a result, firms that achieve superior margins compared to competitors benefit from their competitive advantage and generate value for the shareholders. The competitive advantage thus focuses on differences between firms rather than their everyday activities, as opposed to general strategy. Comprehensive strategic responses evaluation of most companies is usually triggered by change or performance(Auster & Choo, 2014). An organization's competitive advantage gives it superiority over its competitors in any functions it performs (Rumelt, 2013). A firm has a competitive advantage when it has the edge over its competitors in securing the customer and defending it against competing forces in the industry.

The competitive strategy sets out the distinctive approach that financial institutions want to use to succeed in their strategic business sectors (Davis, 2017). According to Payne (2015), competitive advantage can be developed from specific resources and capabilities that are not available to competitors. The ability to set cost leadership, differentiation, or focus strategy depends on the organization's ability to develop a specific set of sustainable competitive practices.

Equty bank is one of the banks in Kenya with stable sustainable competitive advantage.

The Bank involves unique application of strategies, innovation and differentiation

strategies in its major operations. This has given it a high sustainable competitive advantage and it is true that such is achieved through use of core competencies that will benefit the organization in the long run (Davis, 2017). Prahaland and Hamel (2013) defined a core competency as a specialized area of expertise resulting from integrating complex streams of technology and work activities. Competition is perceived as proactive and pushes businesses to create winning strategies to respond to a competitive business environment to gain a competitive advantage (Awua, 2017). A competitive strategy is how a company can benefit from a distinctive competitive path by establishing a profitable and stable position against the forces determining industry competition. Thus, competitive advantage enables a bank to create value for customers and itself (Porter, 2015).

#### 1.1.3 Mobile Loan Applications

Ross (2016) defines a mobile loan as a form of financial borrowing through a mobile phone application link between the borrower and the financial institution. From the above definition, mobile loan applications act as a communication platform to conduct transactions. The online lending institutions have applications that can be downloaded on the Play Store or Appstore. The applications access the user's financial transactions, and the information is used to determine eligibility and loan limits. Mobile Loan Applications have operated in a relatively free-market economy with the freedom to set their operational procedures. James (2016) asserts that mobile loan applications are measured by the following: the total amount of mobile loan, applicants' interest rate as measured by

the average lending rate, transaction costs calculated by the average cost of transactions, and liquidity as measured by the total mobile loan applications assets.

There has been an emergency of other mobile loaning applications like Tala, M-cash, Zash-Loan, Opesa, Branch, Mshwari, and Kashway. Surprisingly, users do not even realize the physical offices of these mobile lending institutions. They give money instantly as long as the applicant has good credibility. Most of the loans offered have a short repayment period, primarily a maximum of one month. On the flip-flop of the coin, these platforms charge a higher interest rate compared to commercial banks.

According to Adedoyin (2017), lending is a critical component among commercial banks; the management needs adequate skills to manage this vital component since it determines its success. The banks' core activities allow room for investment activities and lending activities to their clients in times of financial difficulties. Offering financial solutions to the business people and the state boosts economic growth in various sectors of the economy.

#### 1.1.4 Equity Bank in Kenya

Equity bank is among the 43 commercial banks in Kenya licensed by the Central Bank of Kenya. The bank has been in operation for 37 years since it was founded in the year 1984, with its Headquarters in Nairobi. Equity Group Holdings own equity Bank Limited. In terms of size, the bank has assets worth Kshs. 1.1 trillion, and it boasts of 15 million customers who are served in its 336 branches and 725 ATMs spread in all 47 counties. The products offered by the bank include Debit cards, Mortgage Investments, Credit cards, and Loans. The bank has adopted mobile loan applications like Eazzy Mobile

Banking. Although it is the best bank in East and Central Africa, Equity bank's income on the interest and loan advances considerably declined during the health pandemic of Covid-19(Kigeni, 2020).

According to Kimani (2018), Equity Bank's loan applicants grew but mainly were for small loans, and the small loans were mostly offered through mobile loan applications. The introduction of mobile loan applications like Eazzy banking has shaped Equity bank's sector ranging from savings and lending. Mobile loan applications have been on the rise in recent times; usually, mobile loan applications are undertaken to improve the firms' competitive advantage. Besides Equity Bank, many commercial banks in Kenya have adopted the mobile loan applications model, and the aim of this is to better the delivery of the services minimizing the costs of operations in terms of paper works and the time which used to be wasted by clients, traveling to visit their bankers (Kimani, 2018). Equity Bank has posted impressive results courtesy of itsmobile loan application platform. Technology is now considered a fundamental driver of financial services in this changing technological environment, including mobile loan applications. Since the Equity Eazzy Banking mobile application launch, loans are rising(Mohamed, 2017). This has been necessitated by the relationship between the M-PESA super-agency Equity Bank loan app established throughout the country, which acts as a promising avenue for the transactions. Monthly transactions have constantly increased; an average of 200 loans is processed in this loaning app, which is also key to the bank's profitability. Mobile loan applications application has contributed to Equity Banks' enhanced competitive advantage (Otieno, 2018). The bank faces competition from other commercial banks like The Cooperative Bank of Kenya, which offers various mobile loan applications services

through its MCo-op cash platform. One such product is the MCo-op cash business loan which allows customers to apply for up to 200,000, which is rising. The non-funded income averagely stands at 4million, mainly through a mobile loan (Ochieng, 2017).

#### 1.2 Research Problem

Studies have shown that financial institutions have one thing in common; they all develop strategies to respond to competitive business environments to retain their market share. Organizations are facing exciting and dynamic challenges in the 21st century. In a globalized business, companies require strategic thinking. By evolving good strategic responses, they become strategically competitive (Lewis,2015). As a result of this trend, the business environment is becoming more competitive due to increased players. According to Davis (2017), market forces call for the management team to develop plans for satisfying customer demands by improving their organizational capabilities.

Kenya is experiencing economic transformation, which has greatly affected the services of a commercial bank. The number of Commercial banks has increased and also mobile lending institutions. The increased competition has made commercial banks explore marketing strategies to enable them to gain a competitive advantage. Chepkiyeng & Choge (2014) notes that commercial banks are adopting strategies important in increasing market penetration amid the alternative mobile lenders to seek a competitive advantage. The banking industry is a competitive environment that is affected by rapid changes, and banks have to respond to these changes by crafting strategies for a competitive advantage. One of the changes in the development of mobile phone loan applications. Mobile loan applications are one significant innovation that is popular

among commercial banks in Kenya. The developing counties have experienced the rapid spread of mobile phones recently (Lyman, 2016). One of the strategies to cope with the digital transformation in the financial sector is adopting mobile loan applications. Mobile loan applications in Kenya are transforming and shaping the banking industry by changing how people access loans. The banking industry in Kenya has emphasized mobile loan applications as a strategic tool in achieving the corporate objective of profit maximization and cost minimization. The poorpeople, especiallythose from the rural setup, found it challenging to open accounts with commercial banks because of the bureaucracy involved. The introduction of mobile loan applications, which include M-shwari of the commercial bank of Africa, KCB- MPESA of Kenya Commercial Bank, M-Co-op cash of cooperative bank of Kenya, and Equitel of the Equity Bank, strives to eliminate geographical barriers to the customers and guarantee convenience in carrying out transactions (CBK, 2017).

Several studies have been done concerning strategic responses and competitive advantage. A survey by Abou-Moghli, Abdallah & Muala (2012), through statistical analysis on Banking Industry in Jordan, found that innovation directly impacts competitive advantage through dimensions like cost, quality, flexibility, and time. A similar study by Blount, Swatman& Castleman (2015) in Australia, through an interview with 33 respondents, revealed that banks' strategic positioning and service culture are two important factors to give an organization a competitive advantage.

Wairugi(2012) conducted a study on strategic responses and competitive advantage of commercial banks in Kenya, a case of Equity Bank branches in Nairobi County. The study findings showed that strategic positioning, strategic outsourcing, market

segmentation, and mergers and acquisitions positively and significantly affected competitive advantage. Muchoki (2016) carried a study on the effects of strategic response on fast-food restaurants' competitive advantage in Nairobi. The study found that differentiating products, low-cost products, diversification, reducing overhead cost, and offering unique products significantly impacted organizational competitive advantage.

Omondi (2018) investigated mobile loan applications' effect on the performance of commercial banks listed at the NSE in Kenya between 2015 and 2017. From his findings, the commercial banks underperformed after the adoption of mobile loan applications. The study, however, never employed any model in the analysis. Many study findings have confirmed mixed outcomes on the competitive advantage after the adoption of mobile loan applications. As observed from the above, the studies conducted have focused more on business strategies in other sectors. No study has been done specifically on banking organizations' strategic responses to competition in mobile loan applications services in Kenya. Therefore, the study sought to answer the question: What are the strategic responses of commercial banks use to gain a competitive advantage to mobile loan applications?

#### 1.3 Research Objectives

The study's objective was to establish strategies adopted by Equity bank to gain a competitive advantage on mobile loan applications.

#### 1.4 Value of the Study

The study would be significant to the scholars to conduct academic research. It acts as a source of the empirical literature and acts as an aground in conducting further investigations into mobile loan applications. This research's findings are significant as a strategic tool for managers to decide on mobile loan applications. From the analysis of the profits, they wouldchoose to adopt mobile loan applications fully or stop the implementation by analyzing the costs and benefits of mobile loan applications.

The study would be essential to the telecommunication service providers Safaricom and Airtel's decision-making on the continued partnership with Equity bank. The telecommunication service providers would evaluate the financial gains from the partnerships with the commercial banks. If there are little financial gains associated with the partnerships, the companies will terminate the contracts.

The proposed study wouldcontribute to knowledge on bank-focused theory and innovation diffusion theory. The study wouldsuggest strategic responses to effectively molding, directing, and enhancing an organization to its environment. Strategic decision-making is at the heart of the company-environment co-alignment process, so much emphasis is placed on bank-focused theory and innovation diffusion theory.

#### **CHAPTER TWO:LITERATURE REVIEW**

#### 2.1 Introduction

This chapter entails the literature on mobile loan applications, the highlights on the theoretical review, strategic responses, competitive strategies, and empirical review.

#### 2.2 Theoretical Review

Various theories on mobile loan applications have been proposed, and they include; Resource-Based View Wernerfelt (1984) and innovation diffusion theory Mitchell (1990).

#### 2.2.1 Resource Based View

Resource-Based View was initially developed by Wernerfelt (1984) as a competitive advantage theory based on the firm resources to acquire or implement a product-market strategy. RBV emerged as a complement to porters theory of competitive advantage (Barney & Arikan 2001) Wernerfelt (1984) primary contribution to RBV was that a firm has unique resources and capabilities which were unique and inimitable, which made it superior hence developing the competitive advantages position in implementing product market strategies (Barney & Arikan, 2003). The resource-based theory assumes that the firms are fundamentally heterogeneous regarding their resources and internal

competencies. It explains how a firm can handle their problems through the exploitation of their internal resource, base, and capabilities to obtain a sustained competitive advantage.

The RBV takes an 'inside-out' view or firm-specific perspective on why organizations succeed or fail in the marketplace (Dicksen, 1996). Resources that are valuable, rare, inimitable, and non-substitutable make it possible for businesses to develop and maintain competitive advantages, to utilize these resources and competitive advantages for superior performance (Barney, 1991). According to Lynch and Baines (2004), RBV, an organization, can be considered a collection of physical, human, and organizational resources. Effectively, this translates into valuable resources that are neither perfectly imitable nor substitutable without great effort.

The resource-based view emphasizes the firm's resources as the fundamental determinants of competitive advantage. First, this model assumes that firms within an industry may be heterogeneous regarding the bundle of resources they control (Collis and Montgomery, 1995; Grant, 1991; Wernerfelt, 1984). According to Lyman (2006), commercial banks can benefit from adopting mobile loan applications to provide services to their customers hence forming a valuanle resource. Mobile loan applications are anytime banking since customers can transact anytime, unlike the traditional standard banking procedures where customers must avail themselves into the banking halls or through agency banking, which is a waste of time. There is easy access to the services; customers can access the financial records anytime, anywhere, and perform transactions.

#### 2.2.2 Innovation Diffusion Theory

Everett M Rogers developed innovation diffusion theory in 1962. It describes how new ideas, practices, or technologies are spread into a social system (Rogers, 2003). It originated in communication to explain how an idea or product gains momentum and diffuses through a specific population or social plan. The result of this diffusion is that people adopt a new view, behaviour, or development. Diffusion is how innovation is communicated through specific channels over time among the members of a social system. Adoption means that a person does something different than what they had previously. Adopting a new idea, behaviour, and product (innovation) does not happen simultaneously in a social system; instead, it is a process whereby some people are more apt to adopt the innovation than others (Rogers, 2003). People who embrace an innovation early have different characteristics than people who adopt an innovation later. Innovation diffusion theory holds that innovation diffusion is a general process, not bound by the type of invention studied but by who the adopters are or by place or culture (Rogers, 2004). The diffusion results are adoption, where the organization adopts an innovation upon the decision to acquire the innovation, implementation, where the organization implements the innovation by putting it into practice and testing it. And institutionalization is where the organizations institutionalize an innovation by supporting it fully and incorporating it into typical practice routines (Dusenbury & Hansen, 2004). According to (Rogers, 2004) innovation has several characteristics or attributes that is, a relative advantage which he described as the extent by which a particular group of users perceive innovation as better than the idea or practice it replaces, compatibility which is the degree to which innovation is perceived as consistent with existing values, past experiences, and needs of potential

adopters, complexity as the degree to which innovation is perceived as challenging to understand and use, trainability which is the extent to which innovation can be proven on limited evidence before it can convince most potential adopters and lastly observability which is the degree to which the results of an innovation are more visible than others.

Innovation has separate, distinguishable and objective features which are easily recognizable by exciting parties. The diffusion innovation theory has the following assumptions according to Mahajan, Muller, and Bass (1990), Rogers (1995), and Prescott and Conger (1995). The innovation moves in a discrete package from an independent innovator to the adopter through a constant social ether called diffusion arena. Secondly, the adopter's choice to adopt forms an atomic, isolated decision shaped by the push and pull factors. Thirdly, the decision to adopt follows a rational calculus based on observed technological characteristics and other relevant information available to adopters through communication channels.

Additionally, the adoption decision is dependent on available information, preference functions, and adopters' properties. Also, the diffusion process evolves through distinct stages determined by the push and pull forces and is distinguishable by changes in the adoption rate. Finally, that the diffusion process has neither feedback nor adequate history (Rogers, 1995). The theory's essential criticism was that innovations were being targeted to the innovators and early adopters- the more progressive farmers, with the expectation that innovative practices would trickle down to most farmers. However, the reality is that the theory's application was viewed as a source of inequity, dividing rural communities and not benefiting those most in need. This was noticeable when the diffusion of

innovations helped larger farmers increase their productivity and decrease the market prices received by all farmers in the region (Rogers, 2003).

# 2.3 Types of Strategies adopted by banks to gain a competitive advantage

Both internal and external factors influence the business environment. These factors are entirely integrated with the organization. And the business environment is very dynamicand multi-faceted as well (Omondi, 2018). As a result, it is very difficult to predict the changes that happen in the business environment. How companies respond to a particular situation will determine their fate in the long run. Ideally, companies should capitalize on the opportunities and eliminate or minimize the threats and risks (Wayne, 2016). This is a passive approach that some businesses maintain. The aim is for the survival of the business, so they simply react to the changes and cope with their new situations to survive, not thrive. These businesses do not predict or analyze their environment, they only react to the changes in their external environment to maintain their goals. There is no ambition to turn opportunities into benefits and grow the business. This is the path of least resistance (Davis, 2017).

Accordingly, they will plan a strategic response to take both corrective and adaptive steps (Henry, 2015). This is a far more sophisticated strategy than that of least resistance, where we wait for the changes to occur. The said strategic response will allow the firm to move ahead with stability and strength. So, it is more than mere survival; this strategy also promotes the growth of the firm. It aims to mitigate the threats and seize the opportunities (Green, 2018). Companies have compelling and dynamic analysis and feedback

frameworks as a strategic approach (Armule, 2013). Businesses have limited control over external factors. They have minimal control over their external environment. They can see the significant changes coming from a mile. So, they do not wait for the changes to occur; they find ways to control and alter the environment to a favorable environment (for their purpose). Also, such companies are acutely aware of their strengths. They use these strengths to convert even threats into opportunities. Instead, they exploit the weaknesses of the environment and turn threatening situations to their advantage. This is the most dynamic and most substantial strategic response (Paul, 2017).

Differentiation is creating a unique service or product offering, either through good branding or strong internal skills. This strategy aims at offering something challenging to copy and is strongly associated with an organization's brand (Prescott, 2015). Market segmentation strategy is narrower in scope. Both cost leadership and differentiation are relatively broad in market scope and can encompass both strategic advantages on a smaller scale. Porter warns that companies who try to accomplish both cost leadership and differentiation may fall into the "hole in the middle"; he notes that specializing is the ideal strategic approach (Kotler, 2015).

New inventions like mobile loan applications and the internet are adapted and become successful in conducting business. Innovation involves the deliberate application of information aimed at generating unique ideas (Mitchell, 1990). In Kenya, mobile loan applications are an innovation that needs to continue providing financial services like lending through mobile applications. New technology is key to innovation and is influenced by its usefulness, compatibility, complexity, and observability. This new technology has increased the number of transactions undertaken by the mobile platform.

Innovation is helpful because it speeds up the work by ensuring a maximum number of transactions are achieved. Commercial banks in Kenya which have adopted mobile loan applications have posted increased volumes of transactions (Kimani & Otieno, 2015).

Corporate-level answers are the first level of strategy at the top of the organisations, according to Johnson and Scholes (2017), and they are concerned with the company's overarching purpose and scope to satisfy the stakeholders' expectations and create value to the firm. Three general competing tactics are suggested by Foss & Ployhart (2017). These are differentiation, which entails targeting various market segments and catering to each individual to gain maximum value, cost leadership, which aims at being efficient in production and operations to reduce costs by having controls in place, and focus, which entails concentrating on one specific market niche to position oneself in the market.

Banks implement techniques to increase the efficiency of their core business processes, including manufacturing, marketing, materials management, R&D, and human resources. Although the strategy may be centred on a specific function, they typically encompass two or more functions and call for tight coordination between them in order to achieve company-wide efficiency, quality innovation, and customer satisfaction (Henry,2016). Porter (2014) claims that strategy is about how an organisations attempts to gain a competitive advantage in its industry. He identifies the five elements that influence industry competitiveness: the danger of new entrants, customer and supplier negotiating power, threat from replacement goods and services, and competition amongst established businesses.

Michael Porter of Harvard business school in 1979 developed the five forces industry analysis for competitive business strategy in positioning itself. These are rivalry, the threat of substitutes, buyer power, supplier power, and the threat of new entry. Porter (2004) also developed four general strategies that are viable in the long-term business environment. They are Cost Leadership Strategy, Differentiation Strategy, Cost Focus Strategy, and Differentiation Focus Strategy. According to Michael Porter in his five forces model of strategic competition (Porter, 1980), strategic competition is based on the threat of newentrants, bargaining power of buyers, bargaining power of suppliers, threat from substitute products or services and rivalry among existing firms. Porter noted that an analysis of the firm to identify any of the five forces guides the firm towards its determination of its competitive position in the industry. This enables the firm to choose the strategies to apply so as to enhance its competitive advantage in the industry. Organizations respond to changing business environment by adopting different possible corporate strategies among them; market penetration, product development, market development and diversification by way of growing the business via existing or new products, in existing or new markets.

Diversification basically requires a company to acquire new skills, new techniques and new facilities. Diversification is therefore the riskiest of the four strategies to pursue for a firm. It seeks to increase profitability through greater sales volume obtained from new products and new markets. diversification can occur either at the business unit or at the corporate level. At the business level, it is most likely to expand into a new segment of an industry in which business is already in. at the corporate level, it is generally entering a promising business outside of the scope of the existing business unit, (Ansoff, 2003).

We have several types of strategic responses that is; strategic responses to crisis, strategic responses to the environment, strategic responses to the competitive environments among others. Strategic responses to crisis as discussed by Wenzel, Stanske, & Lieberman, (2020), involves retrenchment, persevering, innovating and exit. Awareness of these responses has implications for managers and strategy scholars alike. For survival and growth of business, the analysis of its environment both internal and external is essential. How the business responds to changes in the environment will dictate its performance, companies may take these three approaches to respond to its business environment, least resistance, proceeding with caution and dynamic response. Least resistance is a passive approach that businesses maintain aiming for survival of the business and so they simply react to changes and cope with their new situations in order to survive. Proceeding with caution involves the business taking the efforts to study and analyze their environment, they take an active interest in finding smart ways to adapt to the ever-changing external environment. The companies will analyze the impact of the expected changes in their business goals and targets. Dynamic response involves organizations operating at a higher level, such organizations have very powerful and dynamic analysis and feedback framework, they can see the major changes coming from a mile and so they do not wait for the changes to occur, they find ways to control and alter the environment to a favorable environment.

#### 2.4 Empirical Review

Omondi (2015) examined the effect of mobile loan applications on the competitive advantage of commercial banks listed at the Nairobi Securities Exchange in Kenya between 2010 and 2014. He sampled 11 commercial banks from 17 commercial banks. He

analyzed the secondary data available from the company websites and computed competitive advantage measurement ratios to conduct a comparative analysis. He concluded that commercial banks underperformed after the adoption of mobile loan applications.

Gakure (2013) surveyed the mobile loan applications and the competitive advantage of commercial banks in Kenya. The aim was to assess the mobile loan applications and their effect on the competitive advantage. The study used a sample of 8 commercial banks, and the competitive advantage ratios were computed before and after mobile loan applications. According to him, the competitive advantage of commercial banks greatly improved after the adoption of mobile loan applications.

Mohamed (2013) studied how mobile loan applications influenced the competitive advantage of banks in India between 2013 and 2017. Twenty-three commercial banks were selected for the study. ROE, ROA, and EPS were computed after and before adopting mobile loan applications for comparison purposes. Secondary data was analyzed using the SPSS software. He concludes that the profitability of Commercial banks in India significantly improved after the introduction of mobile loan applications.

Maina (2012) did a study to assess the contribution of mobile loan applications to the competitive advantage of commercial banks in Kenya between 2010 and 2011. The study relied on secondary data from the published financial statements between 2010 and 2011. she concluded that mobile loan applications improved the competitive advantage of the commercial banks in Kenya.

Ngaruiya (2012) studied the effect of mobile loan applications on the competitive advantage of commercial banks in Kenya between 2009 and 2011. A sample of 9 Commercial banks was chosen from the study. Secondary data was analyzed using the published financial statements before adopting mobile loan applications and mobile loan applications. She concluded that mobile loan applications had no significant effect on the competitive advantage of the commercial banks in Kenya.

Bhasin and Harrison (2016) studied the effect of information technology on the performance of banks in America between 2010 and 2014. Using a sample of 29 commercial banks in the United States of America to assess the impact of information technology on banks' profitability. They concluded that the profits of commercial banks rose after the adoption of information technology in the banking industry. This was after the analysis of the secondary data using the SPSS software from the published financial statements.

#### CHAPTER THREE:RESEARCH METHODOLOGY

#### 3.1 Introduction

This chapter presents the study methodology that was adopted to achieve the intended objective. The areas of consideration in this chapter comprise the study research design, target population, and procedures involved in data collection. Besides, the section covers the data analysis method.

#### 3.2 Research Design

In this study, a case study research design was used. This choice is based on the knowledge that case studies are more appropriate for examining how events unfold and exploring causal relationships, and provide a holistic understanding of the phenomena through one-on-one interviews. The study seeks to establish the strategies adopted by Equity bank to gain a competitive advantage on mobile loan applications. This design is preferred as it provides an avenue for data collection from the firm to establish the link

between variables understudy at a particular time. The method was successfully used by Machuki (2011).

#### 3.3 Data Collection

The study used primary data; primary data was collected using interview schedules. The study mainly relied on primary data, which was collected through interviews. An interview guide was essential in providing a list of high-level questions to be covered under strategic responses to gain a competitive advantage to mobile loan applications. The interviews involved key bank personnel, e.g., Strategy Managers, Directors and Chief executive officers. These officers are more involved in policy-making and strategic planning in the companies where they work and they are, therefore, more likely to provide helpful information that informed this study.

#### 3.4 Data Analysis

The data collected was analyzed by use of content analysis. These was examined and evaluated to determine its usefulness, consistency, credibility, and adequacy. The content analysis was used because it helps make inferences by systematically and objectively identifying specific messages and relating them to their occurrence trends. Similar studies in the past like those done by Armule (2003), who researched on the response of the family planning association of Kenya to changes in its operating environment, and Kandie (2001) in a study on strategic responses by Telkom Kenya Ltd in a competitive environment used this technique of content analysis.

# CHAPTER FOUR:DATA ANALYSIS, RESULTS AND

#### **DISCUSSION**

#### 4.1 Introduction

This chapter presents the findings and responses obtained from the interviews. The responses obtained are determined by the research questions and the study objectives. In addition, the chapters also outline the participants' demographics. This was done to establish strategies adopted by Equity bank to gain a competitive advantage on mobile loan applications.

#### 4.2 Response Rate

Equity bank's micro and mobile loans department has a total staff population of 926 distributed in different branches across the country. However, only 12 based at the head office are responsible for strategic decisions concerning micro and mobile loan. Therefore, only 1 of those 12 were sought for interviews. Unfortunately, 2 of them that were to be interviewed were not available.

Out of those 2, one was out of the country for a particular assignment while the other was on leave. Due to covid 19, the interview was done virtually via zoom.

#### 4.3 Respondents Demographics

This section presents the results of the interviewees' demographics. Given the nature of the study, the demographics for which data were captured include gender of interviewees, level of education, and interviewees' current position. These demographics were vital because they helped understand the composition of interviewees whose perceptual inclinations were the subject of the study and the factors behind such perceptions. The study's findings on these demographics are presented and explained in sub-sections 4.3.1 to 4.3.3.

#### 4.3.1 Gender of the Interviewees

The researcher sought to find out which gender of the interviewed interviewees.

**Table 4.1 Gender of the interviewees** 

Gender	Frequency	Percent
Male	6	60
Female	4	40
Total	10	100.0

Source: Primary Data (2022)

The results in table 4.1 show that majority of the respondents were male. There is fair parity of gender given the proportion of the participants in the study hence indicating that every gender was more open to giving me feedback. This was important for this study to know fair views of the opposite gender on strategies adopted by Equity bank to gain a competitive advantage on mobile loan applications.

#### 4.3.2 Respondents' Level of Education

The researcher sought to find out the level of education of the interviewed interviewees.

**Table: 4.2 Level of Education** 

Level of Education	Frequency	Percent
Bachelor'	3	30
s Degree		
Post Graduate Degree	7	70
Total	10	100.0

Source: Primary Data (2022)

The results in Table 4.2 show that most of the respondents are postgraduate degree holders (70%) while the minority (30%) are bachelor's degree holders. This outcome demonstrates that the dominant part of the interviewees was knowledgeable, suggesting that a large portion of the interviewees were well educated and could give their true and fair views.

#### 4.3.3 Interviewees Position

The researcher sought to determine how interviewees were distributed in their respective bank positions.

**Table 4.3 Interviewees position** 

Interviewees position	Freque	ncy Percent
Director	3	30
Manager	5	50
Other Staff	2	20
Total	10	100.0

#### Source: Primary Data (2022)

The results in table 4.3 uncovered that majority of the interviewees held the position of managers with 50%, followed closely by directors with 30% and a minority of other staff with 20%. This outcome demonstrates that the dominant part of the interviewees was knowledgeable, suggesting that a large portion of the interviewees were well conversant with what they do and could give their accurate and fair views.

## 4.4Mobile banking applications by Equity

The study found that strategic management is essential in several ways; first, it was found that strategic management helps point out the organization in the right direction. This includes making the right decisions, involving the right decisions, and making helpful decisions in solving the issue. Strategic management helps in keeping the vision of the organization alive. Six distinct strategies were identified from the responses obtained.

Aggressive digital marketing was the dominant strategy mentioned by 8 out of the ten interviewees. This was done through social media and online digital platforms. The response below was provided by the Head of Micro and Mobile loans departments at the head office in Upperhill.

"We have an online presence in almost all social media sites including Facebook and Twitter. Our Facebook page has a huge following of up to 10 million users whom we actively engage on a 24-hour basis." We egage with over 70% of our customers through online platforms and more than 80% of our customers base get information and loan data using online platforms".

The other most common strategy was flexible repayment periods. It was clear that equity has flexible repayment periods for its mobile loans. The respondents indicated that their customers are allowed up to 3 months past the installment repayment deadline. This is done to enable them to stabilize in cases of economic problems. However, prior communication has to be done stating the reasons for the delay. The response below was obtained from one of the managers.

"We have flexible repayment periods that allows the loanee to delay for up to three months after proper communication. The loanee therefore does not feel harassed or pressed for time. This gives time for the loanee time to plan ahead and look for other income generating activities to repay the loan in cases of job loss." I think more than 50% of our profits come from loans that were provide to different customers in Kenya and in the East African region."

Interest rates determine the bank's competitive advantage compared to other industry players. The interviewees stated that Equity Bank interest rates are favorable.

"We don't rip off our customers. Instead, we have interest rates that promote personal growth and development. We charge up to 13% per annum on micro and small loans which translates to about 1.08% per month."

In all responses, digital technology was mentioned indicating that all loan application processes at Equity Bank are anchored on digital technology. This involves using a unique USSD code for easier access to mobile loans. One of the respondents was quoted as follows:

"We have a special USSD Code to enable our customers to apply for mobile loans conveniently from the comfort of their homes. We also have a paybill number to enable our customers to repay loans directly from M-Pesa. Our systems are secure and therefore more reliable." More than 60% of our payments come through pabill.

Equity Bank's mobile loans are highly differentiated to enable and promote responsible borrowing. The bank provides some financial education to all loanees through a video

link and a write-up to help with responsible investments and borrowing. The response below was obtained from one of the managers at a retail banking outlet.

"We have pre-recorded financial education sessions to enable our customers to spend or invest the money responsibly. Wastage of borrowed money is one of the greatest challenges that Kenyans face. This is due to impulse buying. We also offer live education sessions occasionally."

Through automation, the bank operates at very low costs. This leads to high profits for the bank. Similarly, low prices translate to low-interest rates hence a more significant competitive advantage for the bank. One of the managers was quoted below.

"We have essentially automated all processes. There is very little human involvement.

Ideally, we operate at very low costs."

The bank focuses on its core activities. This enables it to perfect banking services and provide better services to its customers. One of the managers had the following sentiments.

"We once tried to diversify into other investment options. We had to abandon all other sources of income when profits began to dwindle. We eventually had to focus on banking services exclusively."

# 4.5 Strategies adopted by Equity bank to gain a competitive advantageon mobile loan applications

The study findings also revealed that Equity bank had implemented different strategic responses to gain a competitive advantage. The study findings indicate that the constant increase in strategic outsourcing practices leads to a rise in the competitive advantage of Equity bank. One of the directors was quoted below.

"We have adopted some strategic responses such as outsourcing support, advertisements, and reducing operating staff."

The study findings also revealed that strategic responses implemented to gain competitive advantage by Equity Banks have been very effective. The study findings show that competitive advantage is an attribute that enabled Equity to outperform its competitors. This has allowed the bank to achieve superior margins compared to its competition and generates value for the firm and its shareholders. One of the managers was quoted below.

"We pride ourselves as a bank by providing benefits to our target market in ways that other competitors cannot."

The study findings also revealed that there had been a considerable impact of mobile loan applications on Equity bank's competitive advantage. The benefits of mobile loan applications for users include time efficiency, the possibility to manage funds, transfer money, and detect frauds quickly. One of the managers was quoted below.

"We have maximized digital banking by enabling our clients to have 24/7 access to their accounts (including the possibility to check balance) and reminders about bills payments, loans, etc."

The study findings also revealed that equity bank faces many challenges while implementing mobile loan applications. The banks are the lifelines of the economy and play a catalytic role in activating and sustaining economic growth, especially in developing countries; however, equity banks face common problems that have affected their profitability and financial stability. One of the managers was quoted below.

"We face many risks and one of the main challenges for mobile loan applications implementation is connected with security concerns such as protection of user privacy on very detailed verifications of user input, and at the same time keeping the service simple to use"

The study findings also revealed the significance of competitive advantage to equity banks in business performance. A competitive strategy is most important when a bank has a competitive marketplace, and several similar products are available for consumers. This strategy helps you create a defensive position in your industry and generate a superior return on investment. One of the staff was quoted below.

"We pride ourselves in provision of quality of services, corporate social responsibility, strategy formulation, (electronic) marketing innovation and creativity, customer orientation and market differentiation which as for years enhanced our competitive advantage."

# 4.6 Discussion of findings

From the analysis, six (6) distinct strategies have been identified as key in driving competitive advantage at Equity Bank's mobile applications. These are; Aggressive digital marketing, flexible repayment periods, low-interest rates, differentiation, cost advantages, focus strategy, product value strategy, and modern digital technology and Innovation. The study sought to establish the strategies adopted by Equity bank to gain a competitive advantage on mobile loan applications. The findings have shown that using the competitive strategies helps companies gain a competitive advantage through an increase in the customer base, improved market share, and an increase in the firm's profitability.

Andrew (2018) recognized that the competitive strategies that influence the firm's performance through an increase in the customer base come from providing products and services to valuable customers. To provide valuable services, Equity bank should understand the need of the customers and the environment under which there are operating hence offering services and products according to customers' preferences. When the bank achieves a high customer base, the increase in the market shares automatically increases, influencing the organization to earn higher revenues and reduce operating costs. And with growth in the financial revenue and lower operating costs, the bank can easily adapt and implement other strategies in the organization, such as innovation strategies that are valuable to the customers.

As Barney (2016) discussed, the competitive advantage that will influence the performance will only be sustained when other rivals in the industry cannot duplicate the

firm's strategy. Thus, the sustained competitive advantage will only exist when efforts to replicate it by the rivals in the industry fail, and it is for this reason that Equity Bank is putting a lot of steps to develop strategies that are difficult to imitate to gain a competitive advantage and also to enhance the performance of the firm. Ultimately, continuous improvement of the market strategies and innovation strategies makes a firm competitive, which will improve its operational efficiency and profitability, thus enhancing the firm's performance. The bottom line is that appropriate implementation of the strategies in Equity Bank enables it to gain a competitive advantage and ultimately affects the bank's overall performance.

Moreover, the study supported view by Adedoyin (2017) which confirmed tht banks in Nigeria success depended on the loaning models. This means that it is important for banks to promote their loaning power using different marketing strategies. With effective loaning models and strategies banks can enjoy their performance and out-smart their competitors.

The study support the resource based theory and to provide valuable services, Equity bank should understand the need of the customers and the environment under which there are operating hence offering services and products according to customers' preferences using their available resources. The study also supports diffusion innovation theory and the bank should involve digital technology in its major operations. It is imperative that banks adopt new resources, unique proposition and innovative plans to improve their general competitive edge in the long run (Abou-Moghli et al., 2012).

# CHAPTER FIVE:SUMMARY, CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATION

# 5.1 Introduction

This chapter summarizes the findings and draws clear and necessary conclusions from the study. The results provide valuable insight into banks with mobile loan applications can adopt the appropriate strategies to gain a competitive advantage, eventually influencing

the firm's overall performance. This chapter will then provide a recommendation of the study, limitations of the research, and suggest further research areas.

### **5.2 Summary**

The data analysis shows that the competitive strategies through differentiation, cost advantages, focus strategy, and product value strategy led to the Bank's sustainability and higher performance levels. From the findings, it is apparent that the financial institutions offering the mobile loan services have implemented different strategies, including the winning strategy, which has made the firms grow fundamentally in creating value for the customers and meeting customers' demand that exceeds the firms' costs, focus strategies which has enabled the firms to gain competitive advantage by focusing on specific market segments and operations thus creating a competitive advantage that matches the core competencies and the opportunities in the industry. The cost leadership strategies enable the Bank to have a lower cost of operation through the efficiency of their operations to create lower prices than those of the competitors.

All the strategies implemented have helped the financial institutions offering the mobile loans services to have a direction that will enable them to achieve their long-term objectives while meeting the demand of their customers and at the same time reducing the risks and threats from the market environment and taking advantage of the innovation environment in line with the mobile money transfer and transactions.

From the findings, it is apparent that the strategies implemented in the organization contribute to the competitive advantage, which will eventually affect the overall performance of the financial institutions that provide mobile loan services to the

customers. The strategies included innovation, cost leadership, focus, and differentiation strategies. The strategies mentioned above have been steered to enhance the firms' competitive edge and improve the organization's overall performance. The strategy focuses on attracting, increasing, and retaining the customer base, reducing the cost of the operations, and improving the financial and operational performance of the financial institutions offering mobile loan services.

The technology and innovation strategies have been implemented in the financial institutions for the firms to be at par with the dynamic environment in which they operate. Through the strategy implemented in the organization, the financial institutions offering mobile loans have increased their market share, expanded their customer base, implemented the market trend innovations, increased their profitability, and reduced their cost of operations. All these beneficial paradigms show the value of adopting the appropriate strategies to gain a competitive advantage in the dynamic industry of mobile loan services.

#### 5.3 Conclusion

The strategies implemented to influence the competitive advantage of the financial institutions offering mobile loan services ultimately affect the organization's performance. The product-value strategies, cost-leadership strategies, marketing activities strategies, differentiation strategies, and focus strategies have impacted the organization's competitive advantage. Often, these strategies have led to an increase in the market share, reduction of the operation costs, expansion of the customer base, and increase in profitability of the organization. The strategies show how financial institutions operate in

a highly competitive and dynamic environment. They need to be checking their strategies as often as possible to gain a competitive advantage, which will ultimately affect their performance.

As the finding of the research has shown, the strategies implemented in the Bank impact the operation, competitive advantage, and the performance of the financial institutions offering the mobile loans services. For instance, the technology and innovation strategies have enabled the firms to be at par with the dynamic technological environment, thus reaching more customers conveniently at lower costs, which will make the firm gain a competitive advantage over other competitors who have not implemented that kind of technology. Marketing activities strategies have enabled the organization to reach more clients, both the existing and the prospects and this has made the organization to custom-make their mobile loans services so that they are appealing to their customers; cost leadership strategies have enabled the firms to offer the prices of their services to the customers at the best price possible to gain a competitive edge through the cost of their services. All the strategies implemented in the organization have enabled the firms to gain a competitive advantage, increase their market share and increase their profitability.

#### 5.4 Recommendations

Equity bank should regularly evaluate their performance upon the strategies implemented in the organization to determine the impact of their strategies on the competitive advantage and, ultimately, the organization's performance. Considering the industry under which the Bank operates, the firms must understand the technological environment and its dynamics and evaluate their impact on the operations and implementation of the

firms, for it will be able to determine the appropriate strategies to be adopted in the organization that it will enable the firm to gain a competitive advantage over other rivals in the industry and to improve their performance.

If the Bank decides to implement strategies without understanding them very well, it might lose customers and other essential resources in the organization. For instance, implementing the cost leadership strategies will require the Bank first to understand the cost structures of different financial entities to implement this kind of strategy in the organization.

The Bank should vigorously evaluate its performance, for it can indicate the appropriate strategies to be implemented in the organization to gain a competitive edge in the industry. Therefore, if the Bank wants to gain a competitive advantage and improve the efficiency of its operations, they have to invest in the evaluation of its performance to gauge which strategies are appropriate for the firm.

# 5.5 Suggestions for Further Research

A study should investigate how organizational factors influence the implementation of the strategies in the financial institutions offering mobile loan services. The study should group the firms according to their distinguishing characteristics, such as total assets, market share, and organizational structure. Once the firms have been grouped according to their characteristics, the research should look at how the firms in each group have implemented their strategies to gain a competitive advantage and how these strategies influence their performance. Suppose there are differences in how the firms in various groups adopt the strategy. In that case, it will be essential to have a concrete insight on

the appropriate strategy to be adopted by each organization depending on the category of the firm, which will enable the firms to gain a competitive advantage and influence their performance.

# 5.6 Limitation of the Study

This study did not consider other variables that determine the implementation of the strategies in the organization. For instance, a large financial organization with more resources than a small financial institution means that the strategies applied might differ depending on whether the organization has more or fewer resources. For instance, if there is a new legal framework, a large financial organization can respond by lobbying government officials to have that legislation rescinded.

The Bank has the resources and the influence to lobby for a change in legislation. On the other hand, a small financial institution will respond to the new legislation by divesting from the segment of its business that the new legislation affects. The small organization lacks the influence to lobby for legislative changes, which is apparent in how it responds to new legislation. Understanding how organizational antecedents affect strategies implemented in the institutions will help provide essential insights.

#### REFERENCES

- Abou-Moghli, A. A., Al Abdallah, G. M., & Al Muala, A. (2012). Impact of innovation on realizing competitive advantage in the banking sector in Jordan. American Academic & Scholarly Research Journal, 4(5), 1.
- Adedoyin, B. (2017). Commercial Banks' Lending Activities in Nigeria. Nigerian Financial Review, 9(3), 36-37.
- Agboola, E.G. (2017). Impact of Information and Communication Technology on the Performance of Commercial Banks in Ghana. The empirical evidence. *Journal of Finance*,42,45-79.
- Aguilera, R. V., Rupp, D. E., Williams, C. A., & Ganapathi, J. (2007). Putting the S backin corporate social responsibility: A multilevel theory of social change in organizations. *Academy of management review*, 32(3), 836-863.

- Altman, P. J. (2014). Business models in global competition. *Global StrategyJournal*, 8(4), 517-535.
- Ansoff, H. and McDonnell, A. (2014). The strategic formulation in an adhocracy. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 30(4), 160-197.
- Awuah, L. (2017). An Evaluation of Strategies for Achieving Competitive Advantage in the Banking Industry. The Case of Ghana Commercial Bank Ltd. Kwame Nkrumah, University of Science & Technology, Accra.
- Beard, D. W., & Dess, G. G. (1981). Corporate-level strategy, business-level strategy, and firm performance. *Academy of Management Journal*, 24(4), 663-688.
- Bhasin, B.G and Harrison, J. N. (2016). The effect of information technology on theperformance of banks in America between 2010 and 2014 (Doctoral dissertation, University of Nairobi).
- Blount, Y., Castleman, T., & Swatman, P. M. (2015). E-commerce, human resource strategies, and competitive advantage: two Australian banking case studies. International Journal of Electronic Commerce, 9(3), 74-89.
- Bonelli, M. (2017). Leadership Within Strategic Management: Measuring Corporate Equity Value Using Igor Ansoff's Strategic Posture Analysis (Doctoral dissertation, Alliant International University).
- Boone, K. (2013). "Roots and branches: a brief, picaresque, personal history of systems theory." Systems Research and Behavioral Science, 19(5), 417-428.
- Bryson, J. M. (2018). Strategic planning for public and nonprofit organizations: A guideto strengthening and sustaining organizational achievement. John Wiley & Sons.
- Chakrabarti, A., & Saha, P. (2009). Beyond the prism of rural to urban and voluntary-involuntary in India: A class-focused theory of migration. *Journal of Labor and Society*, 22(4), 807-834.
- Chandler, C. (2014). *Managing and using information systems: a strategic approach*. London: John Wiley and Sons, Inc.
- Chang, S. J., & Singh, H. (2015). Corporate and industry effects on business unitcompetitive position. *Strategic Management Journal*, 21(7), 739-752.
- Chepkiyeng, F., & Choge, P. (2014). The Effect of Marketing Strategies as a Strategic Response on the Attainment of Competitive Advantage: A Study of Commercial Banks in Kenya. Research Journal of Finance and Accounting, 5, 20.
- Cooper, W. W., Seiford, L. M., & Tone, K. (2000). Data envelopment analysis. *Handbook on data envelopment analysis*, 1-40.

- David, M. (2014). Business strategies and performance. Organization Studies, 7, 255 261
- Davis, C. R. (2014). Strategic leadership: Values, styles, and organizational performance. *Journal of Leadership & Organizational Studies*, 20(4), 375-393.
- Davis, R.B. (2017). Strategic Management: Formulation, Implementation, and control (6th ed.). Boston: Mc. Graw -Hill.
- Foss, N. J., & Ployhart, R. E. (2017). The micro-foundations movement in strategy andorganization theory. *Academy of Management Annals*, 9(1), 575-632.
- Gakure, D. N. (2013). Mobile loan applications and the competitive advantage of commercial banks in Kenya (Doctoral dissertation).
- Green, E. J. (2017). Strategic responses to a changing competitive environment: The casestudy of Kenya Commercial Bank (Doctoral dissertation).
- Gummesson, M. B. (2019). Be flexible: turning innovativeness into a competitive advantage in hospitality firms—International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management.
- Gurley, D. J. (2008). Central bank communication and monetary policy: A survey of theory and evidence. *Journal of Economic Literature*, 46(4), 910-45.
- Henry, S. H. (2016). Collective organizational engagement: Linking motivationalantecedents, strategic implementation, and firm performance. *Academy of Management Journal*, 58(1), 111-135.
- Hill, R. S., &Jones, D. P. (2019). The strategy-focused organization: How balancedscorecard companies thrive in the new business environment. Harvard Business Press.
- Hitt, M., Noor, W. S., Isa, M. F., & Salleh, S. S. (2016). Developing Human Capital forSustainable Competitive Advantage: The Roles of Organizational Culture and High-Performance Work System. *International Journal of Economic Perspectives*, 10(4).
- James, B. W. (2016). Impact of Information Technology on the Banking Industry in the The United States of America. The Empirical Evidence. *Journal of finance*, 132,62-104.
- Johnson, H. A. (2015). Strategic Responses by the Kenyan Commercial Banks to the External Environmental Turbulence: A Case of Sidian Bank Kenya Limited (Doctoral dissertation, United States International University-Africa).

- Johnson, O. C., &Scholes, N. B. (2017). Strategic human resource managementeffectiveness and firm performance. *International Journal of Human Resource Management*, *12*(2), 299-310.
- Kapoor, V. (2007). Towards a Global Comprehensive Context-driven and Decision-focused Theory and Method for a New Political Economy. *Cadmus*.
- Kigeni, M. (2019). The impact of mobile banking on transaction costs of microfinance institutions in Kenya. *Unpublished MBA Thesis of the University of Nairobi*.
- Kimani, D. W., & Otieno, J. D. (20155). Diffusion theory and instructional technology. *Journal of Instructional Science and Technology*, 2(1), 24-36.
- Kimani, H. (2018). Effect of Electronic Banking on the performance of commercial banks in Kenya. *Unpublished MBA Thesis of the University of Nairobi*.
- Kiptugen, C.K. (2014). Business Strategies to The Changing Environment in GA Insurance Limited. *Unpublished MBA Thesis of the University of Nairobi*.
- Knupfer, N., & McLellan, H. (1994). Descriptive Research Methodology. *Survey methods. The Association for Educational Communications and Technology*.
- Kothari, C. R. (2004). Research methodology: Methods and techniques. New AgeInternational.
- Lee, K. (2013). "An adaptive strategy for managing knowledge in organizations." *Journal of Knowledge Management*, 10(4), 72-80.
- Lewis, D. (2015). Mobile Phone Technology in Banking System: It's Economic Effect, *Research Journal of Information Technology* 1(1):1-12.
- Lyman, A. (2006). Bank Focused Theory: Theory, research & practice. Sage
- Manali, M. (2014). A study to assess the contribution of mobile loan applications to the competitive advantage of commercial banks in Kenya between 2010 and 2011(Doctoral Dissertation, University of Nairobi).
- Martin, J. D., & Sayrak, A. (2017). Corporate diversification and shareholder value: asurvey of recent literature. *Journal of corporate finance*, 9(1), 37-57.
- Mintzberg, D. (2018). A comparative study of how banks responded to a turbulent and the chaotic environment in Zimbabwe, 2016–2017 (Doctoral dissertation).
- Mintzberg, T. and Quinn, G. (2018). Exploring the Link between Product and Process Innovation in Services: New Service Design. Thousand Oak, CA: Sage.

- Mitchell, C. N. (1990). Adding innovation diffusion theory to the technology acceptance model: Supporting employees' intentions to use e-learning systems. *Journal of Educational Technology & Society*, 14(4), 124-137.
- Mohamed, M. (2017). How Mobile loan applications Influenced the Performance of Commercial Banks in Kenya. *The Empirical Evidence. Journal of Finance*,41,56-102. *Nairobi*.
- Mohamed, O. C. (2013). A study on mobile loan applications influenced the competitiveadvantage of banks in India between 2007 and 2010 (Doctoral dissertation).
- Myers, M. S., & Roca, E. (2015). Social business hybrids: Demand externalities, competitive advantage, and growth through diversification. *Organization Science*, 27(5), 1275-1289.
- Ngaruiya, J. N. (2012). The effect of mobile loan applications on the competitive advantageof commercial banks in Kenya between 2009 and 2011 (Doctoral dissertation, University of Nairobi).
- Njau, J. N. (2019). Strategic responses adopted by Kenya Post Office Savings Bank to thechanging competitive environment in the banking industry (Doctoral dissertation).
- Ochieng, E. D. (2017). Mobile Loan and Firm Competitive advantage: A Critical Literature Review.
- Omondi, G.H. (2018). Effect of Mobile Loan Applications on the Performance of Commercial Banks Listed at The NSE in Kenya. The Empirical Evidence. *Journal finance.*,41,28-67.
- Omondi, R. W. (2015). Mobile loan applications on the competitive advantage of commercial banks listed at the Nairobi securities exchange in Kenya (Doctoral dissertation, University of Nairobi.).
- Otieno, K. (2018). Effect of Mobile Banking on the Competitive advantage of Commercial Banks in Kenya. *Unpublished MBA Thesis of the University of Nairobi*.
- Payne, J. (2015). Leveraging of Dynamic export capabilities for competitive advantage andperformance consequences: Evidence from China. *Journal of Business Research*, 84, 114-124.
- Pearce, J.A. and Robinson, R.B. (2017). Strategic management: formulation, implementation, and control. 6th ed. Boston: McGraw-Hill.

- Pennings, J.M. (2015). Organizational strategy and change. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.Performance: A market-contingent perspective. *Journal of Marketing*, 53(3), 21-35.
- Perlson, K. E., and Sanders, H.J (2016). Strategies Adopted by Banks in the USA To Deal with Challenges Faced in The Banking Industry (Doctoral Dissertation, School of Business, University of Harvard).
- Pfeiffer, J. (2017). Bringing the environment back in the social context of business strategy: the competitive challenge, strategies for industrial innovation, and renewal. Cambridge, MA: Balfinger.
- Porter, M.E. (2015). *Competitive advantage*. New York, NY: Free Press.
- Porter, R. M. (2014). Competing effectively: environmental scanning, competitivestrategy, and organizational performance in small manufacturing firms. *Journal of small business management*, 38(1), 27.
- Prahaland, L. and Hamel, P. (2017). Competitive strategies adopted by Ugandan Commercial Bank Limited in retail banking: Unpublished MBA Project, School of Business, University of Makerere.
- Prescott, M. B. (1995). Diffusion of innovation theory: borrowings, extensions, and modifications from IT researchers. *ACM SIGMIS Database: the DATABASE for Advances in Information Systems*, 26(2-3), 16-19.
- Ross, E. (2016). Provision of Electronic Banking in the UK and the Republic of Ireland. *Journal of Banking Marketing*. Vol 17(2) pp 72-82.
- Rumelt, R. P. (2013). "What in the World is Competitive Advantage" UCLA Policy Working Paper No. 105.
- Steele, M. D., and Dure, B. (2014). "Margin's count: systems thinking and cost." *AACE International Transactions*, PM.03: 03.1-03.5.
- Stiglitz, N. (2003). In support of innovation management and Roger's Innovation Diffusion theory. *Government Information Quarterly*, 22(3), 411-422.
- Thomas, S. P. and Wheelen, J.P (2013). Understanding the competitive intelligence process of the firm and the factors that impact its effectiveness. Anderson University.
- Thompson, P.T. and Strickland, R. (2013). Banking strategy in context: environment, competitive strategy, and banking strategy. *Journal of Operations Management*, 18,123-138.

- Weatherall, H. (2018). Strategic entrepreneurship and competitive advantage of establishedfirms: evidence from the digital TV industry. *International Entrepreneurship and Management Journal*, 14(4), 883-925.
- Wendy, S. (2014). The effect of service quality, innovation towards competitive advantages and sustainable economic growth: Marketing mix strategy as mediating variable. *Benchmarking: An International Journal*, 26(4), 1336-1356.
- Wenzel, M., Stanske, S., & Lieberman, M. B. (2020). Strategic responses to crisis. *Strategic Management Journal*, 41(7/18).
- Wood, R. F. (2018). Critical drivers of SMEs export performance: the mediating effect ofcompetitive advantage. *Journal of Knowledge Management*.

# **Appendix I: Interview Guide**

This interview intends to evaluate the strategic responses of commercial banks to gain a competitive advantage to mobile loan applications in Kenya. The information provided is for academic purposes only. Your time will be highly appreciated.

#### **Section A: Personal details**

1. Name of the respondent						
2. Highest level of education attained?						
Post graduate ( ) Bachelor's Degree ( )						
3. Position in the Company						
Director ( ) Manager ( ) Other Staff ( )						
Section B: Mobile banking applications by Equity						
1. Are there mobile bank applications by equity?						
Yes() () No						
2. If yes, name the mobile bank applications.						
3. Explain how each one of the applications named above work						

4. What are the advantages associated with the use of loan applications such as Eazzy						
ba	nking in service delivery?					
5.	How do the mobile loan applications in Kenya transform and shape the banking					
	industry?					
_						
6.	Explain how the adoption of mobile phone banking products and services gained					
	momentum and diffused across Kenya?					
	Section C: Gain Competitive Advantage					
7.	What strategic responses have Equity bank implemented to gain competitive					
	advantage in the recent years?					

8.	Have the strategic responses implemented to gain competitive advantage by					
	Equity Banks effective?					
9.	What is the impact ofmobile loan applications on Equity bank competitive advantage?					
10.	What are the challenges equity banks face in implementing mobile loan applications?					
11.	What is the significance of competitive advantage to equity bank in business performance?					
12.	Any other views, e.g., additional comments.					
